DIVISION OF WORKERS' COMPENSATION GUIDELINE FOR THE USE OF OPIOIDS TO TREAT WORK-RELATED INJURIES

FORUM POSTING APRIL 2014

PART C: FINDINGS

Contents

1. Opioids for Acute Pain (Up to four weeks)	1
2. Opioids for Subacute Pain (1—3Months)	3
3. Opioids for Chronic Pain and Chronic Opioid Treatment	4
3.1. Comprehensive Evaluation and Assessment of Patient	5
3.2. Consideration of alternative treatments for Chronic pain and Chronic Opioid Treatment	5
3.3. Initiating and Monitoring Chronic Opioid Treatment	6
3.3.1 Screening for Risk of Addiction to Opioids or Adverse Events Prior to Chronic Opioid Treatment	6
3.3.2. Patient Treatment Agreement and Informed Consent	9
3.3.3. Initiation of Chronic Opioid Treatment	10
3.3.4. Use of CURES to Ensure Safe and Effective Opioid Use	11
3.3.5. Use of Tools to Monitor Patients on Chronic Opioid Treatment	12
3.3.6. Use of Urine Drug Testing (UDT)	12
3.3.7. Monitoring Effectiveness of Chronic Opioid Treatment: Tracking Pain and Function and Determining Clinically Meaningful Improvement	
3.3.8 Opioid Titration and Dosing	17
3.3.9. Maintenance of Chronic Opioid Treatment	20
3.3.10. Treating Break-Through Pain (BTP)	20
4. Indications and Methods for Tapering Opioids	21
4.1 Indications for Tapering Opioids	21
4.2. Methods for Tapering Opioids	22
5. Documentation of Morphine Equivalents	24
6. Pain Medicine Consultation	25
7. Concurrent Use of Benzodiazepines and Other Sedative Hypnotics	25
8. Methadone	26
9. Managing Perioperative Pain in Workers on Chronic Opioid Treatment Undergoing	_
10. Opioid Use in Catastrophic Injuries	29

DRAFT DWC GUIDELINE FOR THE USE OF OPIOIDS

11. Responsible Storage and Disposal of Opioid Medications	300
Acronyms	31
References	333

C. FINDINGS

Part C of the DWC Guidelines provides the findings from a review of opioid use guidelines available as of December 2013. Part D contains actual excerpts from the guidelines that were reviewed. Where guidelines did not address a particular issue or where consistent recommendations were lacking, a review of recent literature was conducted. The Part C is the basis of the recommendations in Part B of the DWC Guidelines.

1. OPIOIDS FOR ACUTE PAIN (UP TO FOUR WEEKS)

At the time the literature review was conducted for the development of the DWC Guideline, only the Utah and both Washington guidelines directly addressed the use of opioids for acute pain. (Utah 2009; WA AMDG 2010, WA 2013)

The Utah guideline states:

Opioid medications should only be used for treatment of acute pain when the severity of the pain warrants that choice and after determining that other non-opioid pain medications or therapies will not provide adequate pain relief.

"When opioid medications are prescribed for treatment of acute pain, the number dispensed should be no more than the number of doses needed based on the usual duration of pain severe enough to require opioids for that condition. (Utah 2009)

The Washington 2010 guideline contains similar language on the use of alternatives as initial therapy:

Use opioid medications for acute or chronic pain only after determining that alternative therapies do not deliver adequate pain relief. (WA AMDG 2010)

And the Washington 2013 guideline states:

1

In general, opioid use for acute pain should be reserved for post surgery, for the most severe pain (e.g. pain scores ≥7), or when alternative treatments such as NSAIDs and non-pharmacological therapies are ineffective. Evidence does not support the use of opioids as initial treatment for back sprain or other strains, but if they are prescribed, use should be limited to short-term (e.g. ≤14 days). (WA 2013)

Both the Utah and the Washington 2013 guidelines recommend against use of longacting opioids in acute pain:

Long duration of action opioids should not be used for treatment of acute pain, including post-operative pain, except in situations where monitoring and assessment for adverse effects can be conducted. (Utah 2009; WA 2013)

And the Washington 2013 guideline states "DO NOT USE long acting or extended release opioids for acute pain or post-operative pain in an opioid naïve worker." (WA 2013)

Recent high-quality evidence from a population-based prospective study reported that receipt of opioids for more than seven days, or two or more prescriptions, within the first six weeks following acute low back injury was associated with a doubling of risk for long term disability, even after adjustment for baseline reported pain and function, and for medical record documented injury severity. (Naliboff 2011)Additional lower quality observational studies have also documented the association between early opioid use and subsequent disability. (Tao 2012; Webster 2007)

The Washington 2013 guideline states, "evidence does not support the use of opioids as initial treatment for back sprain or other sprains, but if they are prescribed, use should be limited to short term (e.g., <14 days)." (WA 2013) Furthermore, it recommends a link between initial opioid use and expected degree of improvement:

Pain intensity and pain interference should decrease during the acute phase (0-6 weeks) as part of the natural course of recovery following surgery or most injuries. Resumption of pre-injury activities, such as return to work, should be

expected during this period. If use (of opioids) in the acute phase (0-6 weeks) does not lead to improvements in pain and function of at least 30%, or to pain interference levels of 4 or less, continued opioid use is not warranted. (WA 2013)

It should be noted that opioid use in the presence of a various comorbidities is associated with a considerably elevated risk of death and adverse effects (Cheng 2013; Dean 2004; Deyo 2011; Dunn 2010; Fareed 2009; Goodridge 2010; Grattan 2012; Hadidi 2009; Hall 2008; Mills 2005; MMWR 2005; Nyhlen 2011; Paulozzi 2009; Seal 2012; Shah 2008; Toblin 2010; Webster 2011; Wunsch 2009; Wysowski 2006)

2. OPIOIDS FOR SUBACUTE PAIN (1-3MONTHS)

The literature addressing the subacute period (4—12 weeks or one and three months) of pain is scarce and few guidelines deal with this period separately.

The Utah guidelines state:

The use of opioids should be reevaluated carefully, including assessing the potential for abuse, if persistence of pain suggests the need to continue opioids beyond the anticipated time period of acute pain treatment for that condition. (Utah 2009)

The Washington 2013 guideline states:

With some exceptions, resumption of pre-injury activities such as return to work should be expected during this period.

It also states:

During the subacute phase, providers should review the effects of opioid therapy on pain and function to determine whether opioid therapy should continue.

Opioids should be discontinued during this phase if:

- There is no clinically meaningful improvement in function when compared to function measured during the acute phase.
- Treatment resulted in a severe adverse outcome.
- Worker has a current substance use disorder (excluding nicotine).
- Worker has a history of opioid use disorder (with rare exceptions). (WA 2013)

3. OPIOIDS FOR CHRONIC PAIN AND CHRONIC OPIOID TREATMENT

The guidelines reviewed are fairly consistent in their recommendations regarding the consideration of chronic opioid treatment. The following excerpts are illustrative.

The ACOEM guidelines state:

Routine use of opioids for treatment of chronic non-malignant pain conditions is <u>not recommended</u>, although selected patients may benefit from judicious use.

Select patients with chronic persistent pain that is not well-controlled (manifested by decreased function attributable to their pain) with non-opioid treatment approaches may be tried on opioids. Other approaches that should have been first utilized include physical restorative approaches, behavioral interventions, self-applied modalities, non-opioid medications (including topical agents) and functional restoration. (ACOEM 2011)

The Canadian guidelines state:

Before initiating opioid therapy, ensure comprehensive documentation of the patient's pain condition, general medical condition and psychosocial history (Canada 2010)

3.1. Comprehensive Evaluation and Assessment of Patient

All external guidelines reviewed (See Part D) recommend that prior to initiating opioids for chronic pain or initiating chronic opioid treatment, patients should have a comprehensive evaluation to:

- 1. Determine the diagnosis for the patient's pain complaint
- 2. Evaluate how the pain is affecting the patient's quality of life and function
- 3. Characterize other factors which could affect the choice of therapies
- 4. Assess prior approaches to pain management and their effectiveness
- 5. Establish a basis for developing a treatment plan to help reduce the patient's pain and return them to work
- 6. Initiate a trial of opioids for chronic pain (See Section 3.3.3, Initiation of Chronic Opioid Treatment)

This comprehensive evaluation and assessment will help the clinician in making a decision as to whether or not to initiate opioids for treatment of chronic pain or continue chronic opioid treatment. There is potential for serious harm with chronic use of opioids and a comprehensive evaluation will permit the clinician to best weigh the risks, benefits and alternatives of this treatment decision.

3.2. Consideration of alternative treatments for Chronic pain and Chronic Opioid Treatment

Opioids are not considered the first line of therapy for most patients with chronic pain due to the adverse effects outlined previously in this Guideline and to limited data on their effectiveness in improving both pain and function. (ACOEM 2011; ODG 2013; US VA 2010; Utah 2009; WA AMDG 2010, WA 2013) The majority of guidelines reviewed instruct that chronic opioid treatment may be considered when other more effective and potentially safer therapies have proven inadequate.

3.3. Initiating and Monitoring Chronic Opioid Treatment

3.3.1 Screening for Risk of Addiction to Opioids or Adverse Events Prior to Chronic Opioid Treatment

Every major guideline reviewed (See Part D) recommends using validated tools to assess the risk of addiction or adverse events in patients who are candidates for chronic opioid therapy. Most of these recommendations are based on expert consensus, since research on use of these tools is relatively sparse.

Systematic reviews and other studies indicate that these tools may accurately predict later misuse of opioids. (Chou 2009b; Nuckols 2012; Turk 2008;) A personal history of illicit drug and alcohol abuse is the strongest predictor of later opioid misuse or abuse. (Turk 2008) Most current guidelines recommend the following brief tools (many of which are publicly available):

- Tools to screen for past and current substance abuse (ACOEM 2011, Canada 2010, Chou 2009, Utah 2009, WA AMDG 2010):
 - Opioid Risk Tool (ORT) (See Appendix A1a)
 - Pain Medication Questionnaire (PMQ) (Adams 2004; Buelow 2009;
 Dowling 2007; Hojsted 2011; Holmes 2006; Jones 2012; Moore 2009; Morasco 2013; Park 2010)
 - Screener and Opioid Assessment for Patients with Pain-Revised SOAPP-R (Butler 2008)
- Tools to screen for alcohol misuse/abuse in order to identify high-risk
 patients prior to chronic opioid treatment (Canada 2010; WA AMDG 2010):
 - Cut down, Annoyed, Guilty, Eye-opener-Adapted to Include Drugs (CAGE-AID) (See Appendix A1b)
 - Two-item conjoint screen (TICS¹) (See Appendix A1c) (Brown 2001)

- Tools to screen for psychosocial factors in order to identify high-risk patients prior to chronic opioid treatment:
 - Patient Health Questionnaire-9 (See Appendix A1d) (WA AMDG 2010)
- Tools to screen for current misuse/abuse of opioids during opioid treatment:
 - Current Opioid Misuse Measure (COMM) (Butler 2007)
 - Prescription Opioid Misuse Index (POMI) (Knisely 2008)

The following recommendations are found in several of the guidelines reviewed. The ACOEM 2011 guideline states:

Screening of patients by asking about prior substance abuse with simple tools and using currently available screening tools designed for use in populations on or considering opioid therapy is recommended as there is evidence that patients with a prior history of drug or alcohol abuse or psychological problems are at increased risk of developing opioid related use/abuse problems. A psychological evaluation would also be indicated in most cases. (ACOEM 2011)

According to the APS/AAPM guideline:

Before initiating [chronic opioid therapy], clinicians should conduct a history, physical examination and appropriate testing, including an assessment of risk of substance abuse, misuse, or addiction (strong recommendation, low-quality evidence). (APS/AAPM 2009)

Metabolism of opiates is largely genetically determined. (Yee 2013) Genotyping has been used to identify patients at high risk of adverse effects, for example, children at risk of respiratory arrest after using codeine post-tonsillectomy. (Carroll 2012; Racoosin 2013) There is currently inadequate evidence to recommend the routine use of such

genomic information in the current clinical environment to predict the likelihood of addiction or abuse. (Matthews 2012)

Taking a complete history is of utmost importance as this is the primary source for assessing patients for the presence of relevant psychosocial factors affecting prognosis (or risk/benefit ratio) during opioid treatment.

The following cognitive behavioral factors ('yellow flags') show a correlation to increased risk of chronic pain and delayed recovery (Chou 2010; Nicholas 2011; Turner 2008):

- Catastrophic thinking/somatization
- Fear avoidance ('guarding') behavior
- Sense of perceived injustice and anger over the inciting event
- History of childhood abuse/trauma
- History of depression and anxiety

The following cognitive behavioral factors are not 'generative' of chronic pain, but are barriers to successful management of the chronic pain condition are:

- Misplaced health locus of control
- Counterproductive work attitudes
- Limited family support and stress
- Lifestyle issues of obesity, tobacco use, alcohol and drug use

The presence of important co-morbid mental health conditions, such as depression, is a strong risk factor for misuse/abuse and overdose events among patients on chronic opioid treatment. (Grattan 2012; Johnson 2013; Martins 2012; Outcalt 2013; Wassan 2007)The ACOEM 2011 guideline also addresses this issue:

Patients with prior psychological disorders, depression, histories of drug abuse/dependence, and/or a personality disorder are often more at risk for a poor outcome and should be cautiously treated with opioids. (ACOEM 2011)

Use of the PHQ-9 is recommended for assessing the presence of depression prior to initiating chronic opioid treatment. (WA AMDG 2010) A diagnosis of depression can only be made by a qualified licensed medical professional; the use of screening tools is not a substitute to such an evaluation.

Intravenous, intramuscular, submucosal, and transdermal (except buprenorphine) administration of opioids for chronic pain are discouraged if the patient is able to tolerate oral medication.

3.3.2. Patient Treatment Agreement and Informed Consent

The evidence on effectiveness of a patient treatment agreement is weak. (Alford 2013; Starrels 2010) Despite the paucity of evidence of their effectiveness in reducing adverse effects, most guidelines reviewed recommend using such a treatment agreement if a decision to initiate chronic opioid treatment is made following the screening assessment. (ACOEM 2011; ODG 2013; US VA 2010; Utah 2009; WA AMDG 2010; WA 2013)

The use of a treatment agreement is recommended to document patient understanding of and agreement with what will be expected of them during opioid treatment. Although patients may not adhere to prescribed treatment (and may not do so even with an agreement), these agreements are tools to improve patient knowledge and compliance; they should be coupled with a urine drug screening program. (Starrels 2010) The agreement should clearly describe responsible use of opioids and how to interact with their physician and pharmacy in obtaining medication. If literacy or comprehension is a concern, the ACOEM 2011 guideline recommends that the physician should read the agreement to the patient and ascertain that they understand it or revise the agreement so they can read and understand its content. (ACOEM 2011) Regarding treatment agreements, the APS/AAPM guideline states the following:

Informed consent should be obtained prior to starting chronic opioid treatment. A continuing discussion with the patient should include goals, expectations, potential risks, and alternatives to chronic opioid treatment. (APS/AAPM 2009)

The same guideline also states:

Clinicians should consider using a written management plan for chronic opioid treatment to document patient and clinician responsibilities and expectations and to assist in patient education (weak recommendation, low quality evidence). (APS/AAPM 2009)

The ODG gives very detailed recommendations on this topic:

This plan should be signed and dated and placed in the patient's chart, and include the following: (1) Goals of therapy; (2) Only one provider gives prescriptions; (3) Only one pharmacy dispenses prescriptions; (4) There will be a limited of number of medications; and dose of specific medications; (5) Medications are not to be altered without the prescribing doctor's permission; (6) Heavy machinery and automobile driving is not to occur until drug-induced sedation/drowsiness has cleared; (7) Refills are limited, and will only occur at appointments; (8) Treatment compliance must occur for all other modalities enlisted; (9) Urine drug screens may be required; (10) The patient must acknowledge that they are aware of potential adverse effects of the use of opioids including addiction; (11) Information about opioid management can be shared with family members and other providers as necessary; (12) If opioid use is not effective, the option of discontinuing this therapy may occur; (13) The consequence of non-adherence to the treatment agreement is outlined. (ODG 2013)

3.3.3. Initiation of Chronic Opioid Treatment

Several guidelines (APS, ODG, and US VA) recommend a trial or initiation period prior to committing to long-term treatment with opioids. The initial use of opioids for the treatment of chronic noncancer pain should be considered as a trial, and not a commitment to long-term therapy. Further, it should be communicated to the patient that treatment with opioids will stop if the trial is considered unsuccessful. The patient

should be informed that success will be determined based on a balance between the benefits (e.g. improvements in function, pain, quality of life, return to work) and adverse effects. This communication should be documented as part of the written treatment plan. (See Section 3.3.2, Patient Treatment Agreement and Informed Consent)

There is inadequate evidence that intravenous, intramuscular, submucosal, and transdermal (except buprenorphine) administration of opioids for chronic pain is safe and effective. (Karlsson 2014; Naing 2013) Likewise, there is insufficient evidence to recommend intrathecal opioid delivery for the treatment of noncancer pain. (Hayek 2011)

3.3.4. Use of CURES to Ensure Safe and Effective Opioid Use

Prescription Drug Monitoring Programs such as the Controlled Substance Utilization Review and Evaluation System (CURES) in California are present in most states and collect data in near real time on all dispensed opioids and most other controlled substances. These programs allow a prescriber to check on all sources of dispensed controlled substances (if obtained legally), even if the prescription is self-paid. Most guidelines recommend consulting such programs as part of opioid treatment. (Juurlink 2013; Neven 2012)

The following guidelines offer specific language recommending use of state PDMPs.

The Canadian guideline states: "If available, physicians and pharmacists should access electronic prescription databases that provide information about patient prescription history." (Canada 2010)

The Washington 2013 guideline states:

Use of chronic opioid therapy requires regular monitoring and documentation, such as screening for risk of co-morbid conditions with validated tools, checking the Prescription Monitoring Program database, assessing clinically meaningful improvement in function and administering random urine drug tests. (WA 2013)

The Utah guideline recommends that the PDMP be checked: 1) before initiating treatment; 2) at least quarterly during titration; 3) at least annually during maintenance; and 4) more often for high-risk patients). (Utah 2009)

3.3.5. Use of Tools to Monitor Patients on Chronic Opioid Treatment

The vast majority of guidelines recommend monitoring patients receiving chronic opioid treatment. The use of screening tools or instruments may be considered to periodically monitor risk during chronic opioid treatment to assess whether patients may be exhibiting aberrant behaviors associated with the misuse of opioid medications. (ODG 2013)

3.3.6. Use of Urine Drug Testing (UDT)

Urine drug testing (UDT) is used to determine whether 1) the patient is taking the medication(s) being prescribed, 2) the patient is taking medications not being prescribed by the primary prescriber, and 3) if the patient is taking illicit substances. A recent systematic review found relatively weak evidence that supports the effectiveness of urine drug testing and opioid treatment agreements in reducing opioid misuse. (Starrels 2010) However, nearly every guideline recommends some use of UDT. Several guidelines recommend UDT as part of the evaluation to determine whether chronic opioid treatment should be embarked upon following a trial of opioids. (ODG 2013; US VA 2010; WA AMDG 2010; WA 2013)

Guidelines recommend a UDT at the onset of treatment for a new patient who is already receiving a controlled substance or when chronic opioid management is considered. (ODG 2013) Many consider UDT a crucial compliance monitoring tool for managing opioid therapy. (ASIPP 2012) UDT is recommended periodically and randomly throughout chronic opioid treatment, with its frequency guided by level of risk of misuse. (ACOEM 2011; APS/AAPM 2009; ODG 2013; Utah 2009)

Urine drug testing can be divided into two categories: immunoassays, which may be performed either in a laboratory or in an office or point of care (POC) setting and laboratory-based gas chromatography/mass spectroscopy (GC/MS) or liquid

chromatography tandem mass spectroscopy (LC/MS/MS). If conducted and interpreted properly, POC screening may be an effective use of resources. (Manchikanti 2011a, 2011b) However, it cannot be used to detect alcohol and some prescribed opioids (e.g., Fentanyl, oxycodone). In addition, POC does not detect the presence of benzodiazepines with much accuracy (only about 70% of the time). (OR 2013) POC testing is also subject to false positive and negative results. (Passik 2013) Thus, POC urine drug testing should be considered an initial screen. Detailed algorithms for UDT and clinical vignettes are available to help guide use. (Heltsley 2010; Moeller 2008; WA AMDG 2010)

Current guidelines contain specific language regarding UDT when the decision is being made as to whether to embark on chronic opioid treatment. The ACOEM 2011 guideline states:

While the initial evaluation and treatment plan will not necessarily require urine drug monitoring to ascertain that the prescribed medication is being used and other substances avoided (since opioids use should generally be short-term), this may be warranted if the patient's past history suggests that there is a risk of substance abuse, misuse, or diversion. (ACOEM 2011)

The Utah guideline states:

A positive drug screen indicates the need for caution, but does not preclude opioid use for treatment of pain. Consideration should be given to referral to substance abuse counseling and/or to a pain management specialist. If opioid medication is subsequently prescribed, the patient should be more carefully monitored and conditions under which opioids are being prescribed should be well documented in the treatment plan. (Utah 2009)

ODG makes the following statement:

At the onset of treatment: UDT is recommended at the onset of treatment of a new patient who is already receiving a controlled substance or when chronic opioid management is considered. (ODG 2013)

The Washington 2010 guideline includes this statement:

It is extremely important to keep in mind that immunoassays have both false positive and false negative results. Over-the-counter medication, for example, can cause a positive result. (WA AMDG 2010)

The ACOEM 2011 guideline also states:

All patients on chronic opioid treatment should undergo UDT:

Randomly, at least twice and up to 4 times a year and at termination. Screening should also be performed "for cause" (e.g., provider suspicion of substance misuse including over-sedating, drug intoxication, motor vehicle crash, other accidents and injuries, driving while intoxicated, premature prescription renewals, self-directed dose changes, lost or stolen prescriptions, using more than one provider for prescriptions, non-pain use of medication, using alcohol for pain treatment or excessive alcohol use, missed appointments, hoarding of medications and selling medications).

Patients on opioids should be regularly screened on a random basis via urine testing, with frequency of testing being at least yearly or more often as needed. (ACOEM 2011)

The above two passages may be synthesized to a recommendation to perform UDT from two to four times a year, randomly, and also "for cause."

The APS /AAPM guideline observes:

Random urine drug screens may be more informative than scheduled or routine testing, as patients may change behaviors when they expect to be tested, though there are no studies comparing these approaches. (APS/AAPM 2009)

The guidelines reviewed also recommend that the frequency of UDT should match the risk level:

ODG's guideline makes this recommendation:

Frequency of urine drug testing should be based on documented evidence of risk stratification including use of a testing instrument. (ODG 2013)

The Utah guideline recommends:

Base the frequency of random drug screening on the assessed degree of risk of aberrant behavior for the individual patient. Pill counts may also be useful in some circumstances. (Utah 2009)

The Washington 2010 guideline recommends the following frequency of monitoring during chronic opioid treatment (WA AMDG 2010):

Recommended Frequency of Monitoring

Risk of Misuse	Frequency of UDT
Low	Once a year
Moderate	Up to twice a year
High or opioid dose > 120 mg/day morphine equivalent dose	Up to four times a year

3.3.7. Monitoring Effectiveness of Chronic Opioid Treatment: Tracking Pain and Function and Determining Clinically Meaningful Improvement

3.3.7.1 Tracking Pain and Function to Monitor Effectiveness of Chronic Opioid Treatment

Every guideline reviewed recommends documentation of pain and function specifically
as the principal method to determine effectiveness (See Part D).

Excerpts from selected guidelines are provided below.

The Canadian guideline states:

When conducting a trial of opioid therapy, start with a low dosage, increase dosage gradually and monitor opioid effectiveness until optimal dose is attained

When monitoring a patient on long-term therapy, ask about and observe for opioid effectiveness, adverse effects or medical complications, and aberrant drug-related behaviours:

-Evaluate change in pain intensity

-Ask about progress in reaching agreed-on goals, an important indicator of function change. Self-report can be prompted by asking about work, household activity, mood, walking ability, sleep, and social activities." (Canada 2010)

The APS/AAPM guideline states:

Thus, the two most crucial periods during which effectiveness should be determined and documented would be with an initial trial of opioids, usually during the acute phase (1st 6 weeks) and subacute phase (6 weeks—3 months) following injury, and during chronic opioid analgesic therapy (> 3 months) if the documentation during the acute/subacute phase shows meaningful improvement in pain and function. (APS/AAPM 2009)

The recommendations for the frequency of monitoring pain and function vary among guidelines.

The VA/DoD guideline recommends the following:

Evaluate pain intensity at each visit. Intensity of pain should be measured in the following manner using a Numeric Rating Scale (NRS) (0 to 10)

Evaluate pain-related function using objective documentation whenever possible, such as physical therapy progress notes, employment records, exercise diaries, family reports, clinician observations (e.g., walking distance), or validated instruments or NRS rating scales on a monthly basis during the titration phase and every six months_after the patient is on stable opioids." (US VA 2010)

However, other guidelines recommend early and frequent assessment of injured workers, which is crucial to the delivery of best practices sufficient to prevent long term disability in this population, including the assessment of the need for an opioid trial, and

its effectiveness. (Cheadle 1994; Frank 1998)

The Washington 2013 guideline emphasizes the need for improvement in both pain and function as a marker of effectiveness during the earlier, pilot phase of an opioid trial. During chronic opioid therapy, this same guideline emphasizes the importance of seeing improved function over improved pain; this shift is not surprising, since this guideline's focus is on the injured worker, and the goal of the workers' compensation system is to return workers to productivity. (WA 2013)

Thus, the existing guidelines and evidence suggest that during chronic opioid analysesic therapy many patients may report modest improvements in pain, but no improvement in function.

3.3.7.2 Clinically Meaningful Improvement in Pain and Function

At the time the literature review was conducted for the development of the DWC Guideline, the Washington 2013 was the only guideline to specifically address the degree to which any improvement in pain and function related to opioid treatment would be considered "clinically meaningful." (WA 2013) Based on the published literature, improvement of pain and function on the order of 30% is considered clinically meaningful. (Dworkin 2008; Ostelo 2008) Before considering chronic opioid therapy, providers should be able to document improvements of this magnitude during both the acute (up to 4 weeks) and subacute (4—12 weeks) phases of opioid treatment.

3.3.8 Opioid Titration and Dosing

Most major guidelines recognize the potential importance of dosing and the occurrence of unintentional overdose. (APS/AAPM 2009; US VA 2010; Utah 2009) At the time the DWC Guideline was being developed, no clear evidence on the relationship between specific doses and overdose events was available. However, it is important to note that three high-quality population-based epidemiological studies of risk of mortality and/or overdose morbidity have been published (and are summarized below) since the literature reviews were conducted for most of the guidelines reviewed (Part D).

The first of these high-quality studies is a cohort study in a large patient population. (Dunn 2010)This study was the first to report a relationship between prescribed opioid dose and overdose events, with a 8.9-fold increased risk of overdose at doses exceeding 100 mg/day MED, a 3.7-fold increased risk at 50—100 mg/day MED, and a 1.4-fold risk for doses 20—50 mg/day MED, compared to doses below 20 mg/day MED in patients with chronic, noncancer pain. For each fatal overdose in the study, more than seven non-fatal overdoses were observed. The study also found that patients receiving sedative-hypnotics concurrently with opioids were at an increased risk. Furthermore, patients in the highest opioid dosing group were often current smokers, had a history of depression treatment, and had a history of substance abuse treatment. The authors state that they controlled for these morbidity risks in their analysis. These data emphasize the importance of appropriate risk screening, as mentioned in Section 3.3.1, Screening for Risk of Addiction to Opioids or Adverse Events Prior to Initiation of Chronic Opioid Treatment.

The second high-quality study that was published recently was a large case-control study of participants from the Veterans Health Administration. This study found that the relative risk of mortality was 1.9 for opioid doses 20-50mg/day MED, 4.6 between 50 and 100 mg/day MED, and over 7 at doses above 100 mg/day MED, compared to those receiving doses less than 20 mg/day MED. The study drew the following conclusions:

The present study found large hazard ratios in the association of maximum daily dose with risk of death by opioid overdose. However, the estimated overall risk of opioid overdose among individuals treated with opioids (0.04%) and the approximated absolute risk increases for significant associations, which ranged between 0.072% and 0.45%, were small. Opioid overdose death represents a particularly important outcome, but a rare one, and the findings should be interpreted accordingly. (Bohnert 2011)

The third high-quality study of the effects of increasing opioid doses on risk of adverse impacts also demonstrated increased risk with increasing dose, although the risk it revealed was not as high as that shown by the first two studies summarized above. The

odds ratio (OR) for overdose related mortality for 20—49 mg/day MED was 1.3; OR for 50—99mg/day MED was 1.9; and OR for 100—199mg/day MED was 2.04, demonstrating an "attenuated but significant risk" for doses 50—199mg/day. (Gomes 2011)

The evidence in high quality epidemiological studies across three very different health care systems is fairly consistent and is summarized in Appendix E (Opioid Dose and Risk of Morbidity and Mortality). These three studies show that increases in dose clearly correlate with increases in risk of overdose. Of note, the available data shows that no completely safe opioid dose level exists. Additionally, while there is no established "threshold" dose above which opioids are found to be unsafe, and below which they are safe, a pattern of increasing risk of adverse events with increasing doses undeniably emerges from the three most recent studies. The following passage from the Utah guideline provides a good summary of the recent research findings:

Evidence and other guidelines are not in agreement regarding the risks and benefits of high daily doses of opioid measured in morphine equivalents. It is likely that the risk-benefit ratio is less favorable at higher doses. Clinical vigilance is needed at all dosage levels of opioids but is even more important at higher doses. Clinicians who are not experienced in prescribing high doses of opioids should consider either referring the patient or obtaining a consultation from a qualified provider for patients receiving high dosages. No clear threshold for high dose has been established based on evidence. The Washington State guideline (WSAMDG, 2007) suggested a threshold of 120 mg of morphine equivalent per day. The Utah guideline spoke to increased clinical vigilance at daily doses exceeding 120-200 mg of morphine equivalent per day. (Utah 2009)

Both of the Washington guidelines and the Utah guideline recommend that caution be exercised with all dosing of opioids, with the practitioner and patient working together to weigh the relative benefits and risk of not only starting opioids, but of any dose escalation. (Utah 2009; WA AMDG 2010, WA 2013).

Although some guidelines recommend prescribing the opioid antagonist naloxone (trade names include Narcan) to patients on chronic opioids who are at risk for overdose, none of the ones reviewed for the DWC Guideline provided this recommendation

3.3.9. Maintenance of Chronic Opioid Treatment

VA/DoD guideline recommends that providers assess patients at least every one to six months based on the following:

Individualize and adjust visit frequencies based on patient characteristics, comorbidities, level of risk for potential drug misuse (i.e., diversion, addiction, abuse, and aberrant drug-related behavior), type of pain, and type and dose of opioids.

No specific visit frequency applies to all patients. Select a frequency that allows close follow-up of the patient's adverse effects, pain status, and appropriate use of medication. (US VA 2010)

3.3.10. Treating Break-Through Pain (BTP)

Breakthrough pain, a term derived from the cancer pain literature, is defined as a transient increase in pain to greater than moderate intensity, among patients who have relatively stable, controlled baseline pain. (Hojsted 06; Manchikanti 2011c) A recent systematic review concluded that overall, more than one in two patients with cancer experienced BTP, although there was variability between the reviewed studies. (Deandrea 2014) Some authors also describe the occurrence of BTP in noncancer chronic pain and recommend extended release opioids and morphine for its resolution. (Portenoy 1990, 1999, 2006, 2010a, 2010b)

Most of the guidelines reviewed did not provide specific guidance for treating BTP in injured workers, (ACOEM 2011; ASIPP 2012; Canada 2010; Utah 2009, WA AMDG 2010; WA 2013) while others contained inconsistent recommendations:

The APS/AAPM guideline states:

There is insufficient evidence to guide recommendations regarding optimal treatment strategies for breakthrough pain in patients with CNCP. Limited evidence from short-term trials suggest that short-acting or rapid onset, asneeded opioids may be effective in this setting, but more studies are needed to evaluate the long-term benefits and harms of this strategy, and to compare effects of different short-acting or rapid onset opioids. (APS/AAPM 2009)

ODG states that short-acting opioids are often used to treat intermittent or breakthrough pain and also that NSAIDS may also be used for this purpose. (ODG 2013)

The VA/DoD guideline states:

There is insufficient evidence to guide recommendations regarding optimal treatment strategies for breakthrough pain in patients with [chronic non-cancer pain]. Most of the trials evaluating supplemental opioid doses for exacerbation of pain were conducted in patients who were treated for end-of life care. (US VA 2010)

A systematic review was unable to identify significant evidence of breakthrough pain in chronic noncancer pain patients. (Manchikanti 2011c) The authors of this review recommended that appropriate management of increased pain in chronic noncancer pain patients should be managed by a comprehensive assessment, and that treatment be based on appropriate pain management principles, with modalities other than opioid medication.

4. INDICATIONS AND METHODS FOR TAPERING OPIOIDS

4.1 Indications for Tapering Opioids

The majority of guidelines (the APS/AAPM, Canadian, Utah, and both Washington

21

guidelines) address aspects of tapering opioids among patients who have been on opioids on a generally continuous basis for at least 90 days. (APS/AAPM 2009; Canada 2010; Utah 2009; WA AMDG 2010; WA 2013) For the most part, the vast majority of recommendations in these guidelines are consensus-based, since there is a lack of published data on the indications for tapering or on effectiveness of various tapering methods in the patient population receiving chronic opioid treatment.

The guidelines reviewed universally agree that tapering should be considered when opioids have been ineffective, when serious adverse events have occurred, or when aberrant or illegal behaviors have occurred.

Indications for tapering:

Most guidelines describe tapering a patient to either a lower dose of opioids or completely off under the following circumstances:

- Patient expresses a desire to discontinue therapy
- Resolution of pain
- No documented improvement in pain and function, unless there are extenuating circumstances, or patient claims a lack of effectiveness
- Patient is non-adherent to treatment plan and monitoring
- Patient has engaged in illegal or dangerous activity, including: diversion,
 prescription forgery, suicide attempt, involvement in a motor vehicle accident
 and/or arrest related to opioids, aggressive or threatening behavior in the clinic.
- Severe adverse effects or overdose events.

4.2. METHODS FOR TAPERING OPIOIDS

In the absence of strong evidence, the guidelines reviewed differ as to the most effective tapering methods.

The APS/AAPM guideline states:

Although there is insufficient evidence to guide specific recommendations on optimal strategies, a taper or wean can often be achieved in the outpatient setting in patients without severe medical or psychiatric comorbidities. When available, opioid detoxification in a rehabilitation setting (outpatient or inpatient) can be helpful, especially for patients unable to reduce their opioid dose in a less structured setting.

Approaches to weaning range from a slow 10% dose reduction per week to a more rapid 25% to 50% reduction every few days. Evidence to guide specific recommendations on the rate of reduction is lacking, though a slower rate may help reduce the unpleasant symptoms of opioid withdrawal. (APS/AAPM 2009)

According to the Canadian guideline:

The rate of the taper can vary from 10% of the total daily dose every day, to 10% of the total daily dose every 1–2 weeks.

"Slower tapers are recommended for patients who are anxious about tapering, may be psychologically dependent on opioids, have co-morbid cardio-respiratory conditions, or express a preference for a slow taper. AND 1) Tapers can usually be completed between 2–3 weeks and 3–4 months. (Canada 2010)

The tapering process specified in the Washington 2013 opioid guideline is as follows:

Step 1: Discontinuing Opioids in a Community Care Setting: A gradual taper of approximately 10% per week (see AMDG Guideline [WA 2010]) can be carried out by the attending provider. Adjuvant agents like clonidine and psychological support such as cognitive behavioral therapy can be provided to assist with the taper process. The department or insurer may also authorize temporary coverage of buprenorphine or buprenorphine/naloxone to assist with the tapering

- process (see L&I coverage policy). [33]¹ The AP may also seek consultative assistance from a pain management specialist.
- Step 2: Discontinuing Opioids in an Intensive Setting: For those workers who have failed step 1 or who are at high risk for failure due to high dose, concurrent benzodiazepine use, or co-morbid substance use or mental health disorder, the prescriber should consider seeking consultative assistance from a pain management specialist, a structured intensive multidisciplinary program (SIMP) provider or addiction medicine specialist. Adjuvant agents and psychological support can be provided to assist with the taper process. The department or insurer may also authorize temporary coverage of buprenorphine or buprenorphine/naloxone to assist with the tapering process. In these situations, formal inpatient detoxification and/or a 4-week SIMP treatment program may be required.

Due to the lack of high quality evidence of safety and comparative efficacy, ultra rapid detoxification using IV or IM antagonist drugs, is not recommended.

 If steps 1 and 2 fail, (and the patient meets DSM-V criteria for opioid use disorder)can authorize up to 6 months of addiction treatment through a licensed chemical dependency treatment center. (WA 2013)

5. DOCUMENTATION OF MORPHINE EQUIVALENTS

The Washington 2010 guideline recommends documentation of dosage as MED/day at each visit so that the primary prescriber knows the exact dosing on a continuous basis. (WA AMDG 2010) This same guideline also recommends that the provider check the state PDMP to ascertain the patient's compliance with the prescribed dose.

_

¹ Reference in the cited passage to Nielsen, S., Hillhouse, M., Thomas, C., Hasson, A., and Ling, W., *A Comparison of Buprenorphine Taper Outcomes Between Prescription Opioid and Heroin Users.* J Addict Med, 2012.

6. PAIN MEDICINE CONSULTATION

There is consistency among the guidelines reviewed that prescribing providers may find it beneficial to obtain consultation with a pain medicine or other specialist either prior to escalating the dose or at any time the provider deems it necessary during chronic opioid treatment, even when all criteria have been met. (APS/AAPM 2009; Utah 2009; US VA 2010) The purpose of such consultation would be to assist with a range of complex issues (as determined by the requesting physician) related to the care of patients at all stages of pain.

7. CONCURRENT USE OF BENZODIAZEPINES AND OTHER SEDATIVE HYPNOTICS

Benzodiazepines and other sedatives can increase the risk of problematic side effects or adverse events when combined with opioids, particularly respiratory depression and/or aspiration. Both opioids and benzodiazepines have been implicated in the worsening of obstructive sleep apnea and thus are contraindicated with this condition due to suppression of the gag reflex and reduction of airway protection. Similarly, other illnesses that compromise respiratory function and oxygenation, such as COPD or pneumonia, may pose additional risks for patients taking opioids, especially if they are also taking sedative/hypnotic medications such as benzodiazepines.

It has been estimated that there are at least 100 million prescriptions for benzodiazepines filled in the U.S. annually, and prescriptions for these agents are also rising. Similarly, prescriptions for anxiolytics/sedatives/hypnotics rose from 2.8% to 4.7% of the population during the same sample periods. (NCHS 2013) With these increases, prescription drug overdose death rates have more than tripled since 1990. Increasingly, benzodiazepines have been implicated in fatal drug poisonings in the U.S., and are the most common concomitant medication found in fatal opioid overdoses, emphasizing their potential contribution to deaths from inadvertent overdose. (Warner 2009) Of the 14,800 deaths related to prescription analgesics in 2008, approximately

half involved more than one drug; the most common concomitant drugs included benzodiazepines, cocaine and heroin. (CDC Nov 2011) Benzodiazepines were mentioned in 17% of the deaths as the only additional medication detected and in an additional 3% of deaths involving a prescription analgesic with more than one other drug. (Warner 2009)

Though studies specific to injured workers are lacking, prescription oversight programs have implicated benzodiazepines as a source of increased morbidity and negative outcomes in opioid-maintained patients. Such negative outcomes have included increased risk of overdose and death. (Bramness 2007)

Polypharmacy is a particular challenge for the prescriber, who may not be aware of all other prescription or non-prescription agents a patient is utilizing. Even some over-the-counter products (e.g., kava) can exert effects on the benzodiazepine receptor complex and have additive or synergistic effects with other depressants. (Almeida 1996) Thus, such "natural" complementary medications may pose risks similar to benzodiazepines in patients also maintained on chronic opioids.

8. METHADONE

The main usage of methadone is to treat patients who are addicted to opioids and to manage chronic pain. (Eyler 2013) Because of its special pharmacokinetics, and prolonged half-life, use of methadone for treatment of chronic pain must be undertaken with particular care.

The Utah guidelines state the following:

Methadone-related death rates have been increasing in Utah and the U.S. In 2006, methadone was implicated in 30% of non-illicit drug-related deaths in Utah. Methadone was the most common drug identified by the Utah Medical Examiner as causing or contributing to accidental deaths, accounting for a disproportionate number of deaths compared to its frequency of use. Methadone was the single

drug most often associated with overdose death and had the highest prescription adjusted mortality rate (PAMR) with an average of 150 deaths for every 100,000 prescriptions during 1998—2004. From 1997—2004, population-adjusted methadone prescriptions increased 727%. The increase in the methadone prescription rate was for treatment of pain and not addiction therapy. (Utah 2009)

The FDA has issued a public health advisory to alert patients and their caregivers and health care professionals to the following important safety information on methadone:

- Prescribing methadone is complex. Methadone should only be prescribed for patients with moderate to severe pain when their pain is not improved with other non-narcotic pain relievers. Pain relief from a dose of methadone lasts about 4 to 8 hours. However methadone stays in the body much longer—from 8 to 59 hours after it is taken. As a result, patients may feel the need for more pain relief before methadone is gone from the body. Methadone may build up in the body to a toxic level if it is taken too often, if the amount taken is too high, or if it is taken with certain other medicines or supplements.
- Patients should take methadone exactly as prescribed. Taking more
 methadone than prescribed can cause breathing to slow or stop and can cause
 death. A patient who does not experience good pain relief with the prescribed
 dose of methadone, should talk to his or her doctor.
- Patients taking methadone should not start or stop taking other medicines or dietary supplements without talking to their health care provider. Taking other medicines or dietary supplements may cause less pain relief. They may also cause a toxic buildup of methadone in the body leading to dangerous changes in breathing or heart beat that may cause death.
- Health care professionals and patients should be aware of the signs of methadone overdose. Signs of methadone overdose include trouble breathing or shallow breathing; extreme tiredness or sleepiness; blurred vision; inability to

think, talk or walk normally; and feeling faint, dizzy or confused. If these signs occur, patients should get medical attention right away. (US FDA 2006)

According to the Washington 2013 guideline:

- Respiratory depression is the chief hazard associated with methadone
 administration. Methadone's peak respiratory depressant effects typically occur
 later, and persist longer than its peak analgesic effects, particularly in the early
 dosing period. These characteristics can contribute to cases of iatrogenic
 overdose, particularly during treatment initiation and dose titration.
- In addition, cases of QT interval prolongation and serious arrhythmia (torsades
 de pointes) have been observed during treatment with methadone. Most cases
 involve patients being treated for pain with large, multiple daily doses of
 methadone, although cases have been reported in patients receiving doses
 commonly used for maintenance treatment of opioid addiction.
- Methadone treatment for analgesic therapy in patients with acute or chronic pain should only be initiated if the potential analgesic or palliative care benefit of treatment with methadone is considered and outweighs the risks. (WA 2013)

9. Managing Perioperative Pain in Workers on Chronic Opioid Treatment Undergoing Elective Surgery

Although it is generally recognized that patients on chronic opioid treatment present a special problem, there is a paucity of data on best management practices for use of peri-operative opioids in these patients in whom elective surgery is planned.

Chronic opioid treatment prior to surgery is a risk factor for prolongation of opioid use post-operatively. (Rapp 1995) In general, patients on chronic opioid treatment will report higher pain scores and manifest more anxiety than other patients. (Carroll 2012; Rapp 1995; Theunissen 2012) They will also likely require higher opioid doses in the intra and post-operative period. Patients receiving chronic opioid treatment undergoing

surgery also have more frequent and more deadly respiratory depressive episodes than opioid-naïve patients. (Rapp 1995)

Managing pain in workers on chronic opioid treatment who are undergoing elective surgeries presents unique challenges and requires a coordinated treatment plan for pain management prior to surgery. This requires a collaborative effort involving the surgeon, anesthesiologist, pain management specialist, attending provider and the worker.

Evidence is lacking regarding the advisability of tapering opioids in patients receiving chronic opioid treatment before elective surgery.

The Washington 2013 guideline recommends the following:

A pre-operative evaluation, preferably by an anesthesiologist, one to two weeks prior to surgery. This should consider the worker's current opioid dose (both prescribed and actually taken) and a thorough medical history that includes information about mental health and substance use disorder. Accurate dosage information is especially important for planning peri-operative pain management. The evaluator should also check the opioid prescribing history in CURES. The recommendations below will help manage the workers' pain and minimize their risk associated with surgery. (WA 2013)

10. OPIOID USE IN CATASTROPHIC INJURIES

Catastrophic injuries such as severe burns, crush or spinal cord injury in which significant recovery of physical function is not expected are exempt from many of the recommendations in this guideline. For example, clinically meaningful functional improvement may not occur following catastrophic injury.

29

11. RESPONSIBLE STORAGE AND DISPOSAL OF OPIOID

MEDICATIONS

Although there are no uniform guidelines regarding the exact method by which opioids should be disposed, there is agreement that unused medications should be rendered unusable. (ACPM 2011)

ACRONYMS

BTP break-through pain

CAGE-AID Cut down, Annoyed, Guilty, Eye-opener-Adapted to Include Drugs

CLIA Clinical Laboratory Improvement Amendments

CNS central nervous system

COMM Current Opioid Misuse Measure

COPD chronic obstructive pulmonary disease

CURES Controlled Substance Utilization Review and Evaluation System

DSM-V Diagnostic and Statistical Manual of Mental Disorders, Fifth Edition

DWC Division of Workers' Compensation

ECG electro-cardiogram

GC/MS gas chromatography mass spectrometry

GCPS Graded Chronic Pain Scale

LC/MS liquid chromatography mass spectrometry

MED morphine equivalent dose

MTUS Medical Treatment Utilization Schedule

NSAID nonsteroidal anti-inflammatory drug

ORT Opioid Risk Tool

PCA patient-controlled analgesia

PDMP Prescription Drug Monitoring Program

PEG Average pain intensity (P), interference with enjoyment of life (E), and

interference with general activity (G).

PHQ-9 Patient Health Questionnaire, ninth edition

PMQ Patient Medication Questionnaire

POC point of collection

POMI Prescription Opioid Misuse Index

PTSD post-traumatic stress disorder

RCT randomized controlled trial

SIMP structured intensive multidisciplinary program

SOAPP-R Screener and Opioid Assessment for Patients with Pain-Revised

TICS Two-item Conjoint Screen

UDT urine drug test

WHYMPI West Haven-Yale Multidimensional Pain Inventory

REFERENCES

Adams L, Gatchel R, Robinson R, et al. Development of a self-report screening instrument for assessing potential opioid medication misuse in chronic pain patients. J Pain Symptom Manage. 2004;27(5):440.

Alford DP. Chronic back pain with possible prescription opioid misuse. JAMA 2013;309:919–25.

Almeida JC, Grimsley EW. Coma from the health food store: interaction between kava and alprazolam. Ann Intern Med. 1996;125:940–1.

Alspaugh DW. Desertion, Abandonment, and Neglect of Patient. JAMA 1967;199(8):245–246. doi:10.1001/jama.1967.03120080211077

American Chronic Pain Association (ACPA). Living with Arthritis Ability Chart. 2012. URL: http://www.theacpa.org/uploads/documents/ACPA—Arthritis.pdf, Accessed 8/9/13.

American College of Occupational and Environmental Medicine. ACOEM's guidelines for the chronic use of opioids. 2011.

URL:http://www.acoem.org/uploadedFiles/Knowledge_Centers/Practice_Guidelines/Chronic%20Pain%20Opioid%202011.pdf Accessed 6/18/2013

American College of Preventive Medicine. Use, Abuse, Misuse & Disposal of Prescription Pain Medication Clinical Reference. 2011. URL:

http://c.ymcdn.com/sites/www.acpm.org/resource/resmgr/timetools-files/painmedsclinicalreference.pdf

Bernacki EJ, Tsai SP. Ten years' experience using an integrated workers' compensation management system to control workers' compensation costs. J Occup Environ Med 2003;45:508–16.

Blondell RD, Azadfard M, Wisniewski AM. Pharmacologic Therapy for Acute Pain. Am Fam Physician. June 1, 2013;87(11):766–772.

Bohnert AS, Valenstein M, Bair MJ, et al. Association between opioid prescribing patterns and opioid overdose-related deaths. JAMA 2011;305:1315–21.

Boscarino JA, Rukstalis MR, Hoffman SN, et al. Prevalence of prescription opioid-use disorder among chronic pain patients: comparison of the DSM-5 vs DSM-4 diagnostic criteria. J Addict Dis. 2011;30:185–94.

Boyer EW. Management of Opioid Analgesic Overdose. N Engl J Med. July 2012;367(2):146–155.

Bramness JG, Kornor H. Benzodiazepine prescription for patients in opioid maintenance treatment in Norway. Drug and Alcohol Depend. 2007;90:203–209.

Brown FL, Jr., Bodison S, Dixon J, Davis W, Nowoslawski J. Comparison of diflunisal and acetaminophen with codeine in the treatment of initial or recurrent acute low back strain. Clin Ther. 1986;9 (Suppl C):52–8.

Brown RL, Leonard T, Saunders LA, Papasouliotis O. A Two-Item Conjoint Screen for Alcohol and Other Drug Problems. J Am Board Fam Pract. March—April 2001;14(2):95—106. URL: http://www.medscape.com/viewarticle/405836 (Accessed 04/07/2014)

Brown RL, Rounds LA. Conjoint screening questionnaires for alcohol and other drug abuse: criterion validity in a primary care practice. Wis Med J 1995;94(3):135-140.

Buelow AK, Haggard R, Gatchel RJ. Additional validation of the pain medication questionnaire in a heterogeneous sample of chronic pain patients. Pain Pract. 2009;9(6):428–34.

Butler S F. Development and Validation of the Current Opioid Misuse Measure. J Pain 2007 July; 130(1–2):144–156.

Butler S F. Validation of the Revised Screener and Opioid Assessment for Patients with Pain (SOAPP-R). J Pain. 2008 April; 9(4):360–372.

Butler SF, Budman SH, Banciullo GJ, Jamison RN, Cross Validation of the Current Opioid Misuse Measure (COMM) to Monitor Chronic Pain Patients on Opioid Therapy. Clin J Pain. Nov 2011;26(9): 770–776. doi: 10.1097/AJP.0b013e3181f195ba

Canada: National Opioid Use Guideline Group (NOUGG). Canadian Guideline for Safe and Effective Use of Opioids for Chronic Non-Cancer Pain. 2010 [cited 2013 March 21]. Available from: http://nationalpaincentre.mcmaster.ca/opioid/

Carroll I, Barelka P, Wang BM, et al. A pilot cohort study of the determinants of longitudinal opioid use after surgery. Anesth Analg. 2012;115:694–702.

Centers for Disease Control and Prevention (CDC). Policy Impact: Prescription Painkiller Overdoses. November 2011. URL:

http://www.cdc.gov/homeandrecreationalsafety/rxbrief/ Accessed 08/18/2013.

Centers for Disease Control and Prevention (CDC). Vital Signs: Overdoses of Prescription Opioid Pain Relievers—United States, 1999–2008. MMWR 2011; 60(43):1487–1492. http://www.cdc.gov/mmwr/preview/mmwrhtml/mm6043a4.htm Accessed 04/01/14

Centers for Disease Control and Prevention (CDC). Warner M, Chen LH, Makuc DM. Increase in fatal poisonings involving opioid analgesics in the United States, 1999–2006. NCHS Data Brief. ;22 Sept 2009. URL: http://www.cdc.gov/nchs/data/databriefs/db22.pdf

Centers for Disease Control and Prevention (CDC). Unintentional deaths from drug poisoning by urbanization of area — New Mexico, 1994–2003. MMWR. 2005;54(35):870–3.

Cheadle A, Franklin G, Wolfhagen C, et al. Factors influencing the duration of work-related disability: A population-based study of Washington State workers' compensation. Am J Publ Health 1994; 84:190–96

Cheng M, Sauer B, Johnson E, Porucznik C, Hegmann K. Comparison of opioid-related deaths by work-related injury. Am J Industrial Med. 2013;56308–16.

Chou R, Huffman LH; American Pain Society; American College of physicians. Medications for acute and chronic low back pain: a review of the evidence for an American Pain Society/American College of Physicians clinical practice guideline. Ann Int Med 2007a;147:505–14.

Chou R, Huffman LH; American Pain Society; American College of Physicians. Nonpharmacologic therapies for acute and chronic low back pain: a review of the evidence for an American Pain Society/American College of Physicians clinical practice guideline. Ann Int Med. 2007b;147:492–504.

Chou R, Fanciullo GJ, Fine PG, et al. Clinical guidelines for the use of chronic opioid therapy in chronic noncancer pain. J Pain. 2009a;10:113–30.²

² Referred to as APS/AAPM 2009 within this Guideline.

Chou R, Fanciullo GJ, Fine PG, et al. Opioids for chronic noncancer pain: prediction and identification of aberrant drug-related behaviors: a review of the evidence for an American Pain Society and American Academy of Pain Medicine clinical practice guideline. J Pain. 2009b:10:131–46.

Chou R. Pharmacological management of lower back pain. Drugs. 2010a Mar 5;70(4):387–402.

Chou R, Shekelle P. Will this patient develop persistent disabling low back pain? JAMA 2010;303:1295–302.

Cifuentes M, Webster B, Genevay S, Pransky G. The course of opioid prescribing for a new episode of disabling low back pain: opioid features and dose escalation. Pain. 2010;151(1):22–9.

Cifuentes M, Powell R, Webster B. Shorter time between opioid prescriptions associated with reduced work disability among acute low back pain opioid users. J Occup Environ Med. 2012;54(4):491–6.

Clark E, Plint AC, Correll R, Gaboury I, Passi B. A randomized, controlled trial of acetaminophen, ibuprofen, and codeine for acute pain relief in children with musculoskeletal trauma. Pediatrics. 2007;119(3):460–7.

College of Physicians and Surgeons of British Columbia (CPSBC). Recommendations for the use of methadone for pain. Vancouver, BC. February 2010.

Dean M. Opioids in renal failure and dialysis patients. J Pain Symptom Manage. 2004;28(5):497–504.

37

Deandrea S, Corli O, Consonni D, Villani W, Greco MT, Apolone G. Prevalence of breakthrough cancer pain: a systematic review and a pooled analysis of published literature. J Pain Symptom Manage. 2014 Jan;47(1):57–76. doi: 10.1016/j.jpainsymman.2013.02.015

Dersh J, Mayer T, Gatchel R, Polatin P, Theodore B, Mayer E. Prescription opioid dependence is associated with poorer outcomes in disabling spinal disorders. SPINE. 2008;33(20):2219–27.

Deyo RA, Smith DH, Johnson ES, et al. Opioids for back pain patients: primary care prescribing patterns and use of services. J Am Board Fam Med. 2011;24(6):717–27. Dowling LS, Gatchel RJ, Adams LL, Stowell AW, Bernstein D. An evaluation of the predictive validity of the Pain Medication Questionnaire with a heterogeneous group of patients with chronic pain. J Opioid Manag. 2007;3(5):257–66.

Drug Enforcement Administration. Substance Abuse and Mental Health Services Administration. 2011. Results from the 2010 National Survey on Drug Use and Health: Detailed Table, Table 7.1.a. Rockville, MD.

http://www.samhsa.gov/data/NSDUH/2k10NSDUH/tabs/Sect7peTabs1to45.htm#Tab7.

Drug Enforcement Administration. Hydrocone. April 2013.

http://www.deadiversion.usdoj.gov/drug_chem_info/hydrocodone.pdf
Accessed
01/20/2014.

Dunn KM, Saunders KW, Rutter CM, et al. Opioid prescriptions for chronic pain and overdose. A cohort study. Ann Int Med. 2010;152:85–92.

DWC Chronic Pain Medical Treatment Guideline. 2009.

http://www.dir.ca.gov/dwc/DWCPropRegs/MTUS_Regulations/MTUS_ChronicPainMed icalTreatmentGuidelines.pdf

Dworkin, R.H., Turk, D.C., Wyrwich, K.W., et al. Interpreting the clinical importance of treatment outcomes in chronic pain clinical trials: IMMPACT recommendations. J Pain. 2008;9:105–21

Ekman EF, Ruoff G, Kuehl K, et al. The COX-2 specific inhibitor valdecoxib versus tramadol in acute ankle sprain: a multicenter randomized, controlled trial. Am J Sports Med. 2006;34(6):945–55.

Elliott JA, Opper SE, Agarwal S, Fibuch EE. Non-analgesic effects of opioids: opioids and the endocrine system. Curr Pharm Des 2012;18:6070–8.

Eyler ECH. Chronic and Acute Pain and Pain Management for Patients in Methadone Maintenance Treatment. Am J Addict. 2013;22:75–83. doi: 10.1111/j.1521–0391.2013.00308.x

Fareed A, Casarella J, Roberts M, et al. High dose versus moderate dose methadone maintenance: is there a better outcome? J Addict Dis. 2009;28(4):399–405.

Federation of State Medical Boards. Model Policy on the Use of Opioid Analgesics in the Treatment of Chronic Pain (FSMB). July 2013. URL: http://www.fsmb.org/pdf/pain_policy_july2013.pdf

Franceschi F, Marini M, Ursella S, et al. Use of oxycodone in polytrauma patients: the "Gemelli" experience. Eur Rev Med Pharmacol Sci. 2008;12(2):123–126.

Frank J, Sinclair S, Hogg-Johnson S, et al. Preventing disability from work-related low back pain. New evidence gives new hope-if we can just get all the players onside. CMAJ 1998;158:1625–31.

Franklin GM, Fulton-Kehoe D, Turner JA, et al. Changes in opioid prescribing for chronic pain in Washington State. J Am Board Fam Med. 2013;26:394–400.

Fulton-Kehoe D, Garg R, Turner JA, et al. Opioid poisonings and opioid adverse events in workers in Washington State. Am J Ind Med 2013 Oct 10. doi: 10.1002/ajim.22266

Furlan AD, Chaparro LE, Irvin E, Mailis-Gagnon A. A comparison between enriched and nonenriched enrollment randomized withdrawal trial of opioids for chronic noncancer pain. Pain Res Manag. 2011;16:337–51.

Furlan AD, Sandoval JA, Mailis-Gagnon A, Tunks E. Opioids for chronic noncancer pain: a meta-analysis of effectiveness and side effects. CMAJ 2006 May 23;174(11):1589–94.

Gaskell H, Derry S, Moore RA, McQuay HJ. Single dose oral oxycodone and oxycodone plus paracetamol (acetaminophen) for acute postoperative pain in adults. Cochrane Database of Syst Rev. 2009 Jul 8;(3): CD002763 doi: 10.1002/14651858.CD002763.pub2.

Gomes T, Mamdani MM, Dhalla IA, et al. Opioid dose and drug-related mortality in patients with nonmalignant pain. Arch Int Med. 2011;171:686–91.

Goodridge D, Lawson J, Rocker G, Marciniuk D, Rennie D. Factors associated with opioid dispensation for patients with COPD and lung cancer in the last year of life: A retrospective analysis. Int J Chron Obstruct Pulmon Dis. 2010;599–105. Can Fam Physician 2011;57:1257–66.

Gourlay DL, Heit HA, Caplan YH. Urine Drug Testing in Clinical Practice: The Art and Science of Patient Care. 5th edition. Johns Hopkins University School of Medicine. 2012. http://www.pharmacomgroup.com/udt/udt5.pdf Accessed February 12, 2014

DELETE IF NECESSARY.

Grattan A, Sullivan M, Saunders K, Campbell C, Von Korff M. Depression and prescription opioid misuse among chronic opioid therapy recipients with no history of substance abuse. Ann Fam Med. 2012;10(4):304–11.

Haack M, Scott-Sutherland J, Santangelo G, Simpson NS, Sethna N, Mullington JM. Pain sensitivity and modulation in primary insomnia. Eur J Pain. 2012;16(4):522–33. Doi:10.1016/j.ejpain.2011.07.007

Hadidi MS, Ibrahim MI, Abdallat IM, Hadidi KA. Current trends in drug abuse associated fatalities - Jordan, 2000–2004. Forensic Sci Int. 2009;186(1–3):44–7.

Hall A, Logan J, Toblin R, et al. Patterns of abuse among unintentional pharmaceutical overdose fatalities. JAMA 2008;300(22):2613–20.

Harber P, Wynn BO, Lim YW, et al. Selection of workers' compensation treatment guidelines: California experience. J Occup Environ Med. 2008;50:1282–92.

Hayek SM, Deer TR, Pope JE, Panchal SJ, Patel VB. Intrathecal therapy for cancer and non-cancer pain. Pain Physician. 2011 May–Jun;14(3):219–48. Review. Heltsley R, Zichterman A, Black DL, et al. Urine drug testing of chronic pain patients: II. Prevalence patterns of prescription opiates and metabolites. J Anal Toxicol. 2010;34:32–8.

Hojsted J, Nielsen PR, Eriksen J, Hansen OB, Sjøgren P. Breakthrough pain in opioid-treated chronic non-malignant pain patients referred to a multidisciplinary pain centre: a preliminary study. Acta Anaesthesiol Scand. 2006 Nov;50(10):1290–6.

Hojsted J, Nielsen PR, Kendall S, Frich L, Sjogren P. Validation and usefulness of the Danish version of the Pain Medication Questionnaire in opioid-treated chronic pain patients. Acta Anaesthesiol Scand. 2011;55(10):1231–8.

Holmes C, Gatchel R, Adams L, et al. An opioid screening instrument: long-term evaluation of the utility of the Pain Medication Questionnaire. Pain Prac. 2006;6(2):74–88.

Innes GD, Croskerry P, Worthington J, Beveridge R, Jones D. Ketorolac versus acetaminophen-codeine in the emergency department treatment of acute low back pain. J Emerg Med. 1998;16(4):549–56.

Institute of Medicine. National Academy of Sciences. Relieving pain in America: A blueprint for transforming prevention, care, education and research. June 2011.

Johnson EM, Lanier WA, Merrill RM, et al. Unintentional prescription opioid-related overdose deaths: description of decedents by next of kin or best contact, Utah, 2008–2009. J Gen Intern Med. 2013;28:522–9.

Jones T, Moore T, Levy J, et al. A comparison of various risk screening methods in predicting discharge from opioid treatment. Clin J Pain. 2012;28(2):93–100.

Juurlink DN, Dhalla IA. Dependence and addiction during chronic opioid therapy. J Med Toxicol. 2012;8:393–9.

Juurlink DN, Dhalla IA, Nelson LS. Improving opioid prescribing: the New York City recommendations. JAMA 2013;309:879–80.

Kahan M, Mailis-Gagnon A, Wilson L, Srivastaava A. Canadian guideline for safe and effective

use of opioids for chronic noncancer pain Clinical summary for family physicians. Part

1: general population. Can Fam Physician. 2011 Nov;57(11):1257-66, e407-18.

Kalso E, Edwards JE, Moore RA, McQuay HJ: Opioids in chronic non-cancer pain: Systematic review of efficacy and safety. Pain. 2004;112:372–380.

Karlsson J, Söderström A, Augustini BG, Berggren AC. Is buprenorphine transdermal patch equally safe and effective in younger and elderly patients with osteoarthritis-related pain? Results of an age-group controlled study. Curr Med Res Opin. 2014

Apr;30(4):575–87. doi: 10.1185/03007995.2013.873714.

Katz, NP, Birnbaum HG, and Castor A. Volume of prescription opioids used nonmedically in the United States. J Pain Palliat Care Pharmacother. 2010;24(2):141–4.

Kelley NE, Tepper DE. Rescue therapy for acute migraine, part 3: opioids, NSAIDs, steroids, and post-discharge medications. Headache. 2012 March;52(3):467–82.

Kenan K, Mack K, Paulozzi L. Trends in prescriptions for oxycodone and other commonly used opioids in the United States, 2000–2010. Open Med. 2012;6(2):e41–7.

Kerns RD, Turk DC, Rudy TE. The West Haven-Yale Multidimensional Pain Inventory (WHYMPI) Pain. 1985;23(4):345–356. doi: 10.1016/0304-3959(85)90004-1.

Knisely JS, Prescription Opioid Misuse Index: A brief questionnaire to assess misuse. J Subst Abuse Treat. 2008;35:380–386.

Krebs EE, Lorenz KA, Matthew JB, et al. Development and Initial Validation of the PEG, a Three-item Scale Assessing Pain Intensity and Interference. J Gen Intern Med. Jun 2009;24(6):733–38. doi: 10.1007/s11606-009–0981-1

Li C, Ni J, Wang Z, et al. Analgesic efficacy and tolerability of flupirtine vs. tramadol in

patients with subacute low back pain: a double-blind multicentre trial*. Curr Med Res Opin. 2008;24(12):3523–30.

Lovell SJ, Taira T, Rodriguez E, Wackett A, Gulla J, Singer AJ. Comparison of valdecoxib and an oxycodone-acetaminophen combination for acute musculoskeletal pain in the emergency department: a randomized controlled trial. Acad Emerg Med. 2004;11(12):1278–82.

Manchikanti L, Abdi S, Atluri S, et al. American Society of Interventional Pain Physicians (ASIPP) guidelines for responsible opioid prescribing in chronic non-cancer pain: Part 2--guidance. Pain Physician. 2012;15(3 Suppl):S67–116.³

Manchikanti L, Malla Y, Wargo BW, Fellows B. Comparative evaluation of the accuracy of benzodiazepine testing in chronic pain patients utilizing immunoassay with liquid chromatography tandem mass spectrometry (LC/MS/MS) of urine drug testing. Pain Physician. 2011a May–Jun; 14(3):259–70.

Manchikanti L, Malla Y, Wargo BW, Fellows B. Comparative evaluation of the accuracy of immunoassay with liquid chromatography tandem mass spectrometry (LC/MS/MS) of urine drug testing (UDT) opioids and illicit drugs in chronic pain patients. Pain Physician. 2011b Mar–Apr; 14(2):175–87.

Manchikanti L, Singh V, Caraway DL, Benyamin RM. Breakthrough pain in chronic non-cancer pain: fact, fiction, or abuse. Pain Physician. 2011c Mar–Apr;14(2):E103–17.

Martins SS, Fenton MC, Keyes KM, et al. Mood and anxiety disorders and their association with non-medical prescription opioid use and prescription opioid-use

³ Referred to as ASIPP 2012 within this Guideline.

disorder: longitudinal evidence from the National Epidemiologic Study on Alcohol and Related Conditions. Psychol Med. 2012;42:1261–72.

Mathews R, Hall W, Carter A. Direct-to-consumer genetic testing for addiction susceptibility: a premature commercialisation of doubtful validity and value. Addiction. 2012 Dec;107(12):2069–74. doi: 10.1111/j.1360–0443.2012.03836.x.

Mills K, Teesson M, Ross J, Darke S, Shanahan M. The costs and outcomes of treatment for opioid dependence associated with posttraumatic stress disorder. Psychiatr Serv. 2005;56(8):940–5.

Minozzi S, Amato L, Davoli M. Development of dependence following treatment with opioid analgesics for pain relief: a systematic review. Addiction. 2013;108:688–98.

Moeller KE, Lee KC, Kissack JC. Urine drug screening: practical guide for clinicians. Mayo Clin Proc. 2008;83:66–76.

Moore RA, Derry S, McQuay HJ, Wiffen PJ. Single dose oral analgesics for acute postoperative pain in adults. Clin Evid (Online). 2011 May 9;2011. pii: 1102.

Moore BC, Easton CJ, McMahon TJ. Drug Abuse and Intimate Partner Violence: A Comparative Study of Opioid-Dependent Fathers. 2011 April 12; 80(2):218–227.

Moore, TM. A Comparison of Common Screening Methods for Predicting Aberrant Drug-Related Behavior among Patients Receiving Opioids for Chronic Pain Management. Pain Med. 2009; 10(8):1426–1433.

Morasco BJ, Cavanagh R, Gritzner S, Dobscha SK. Care management practices for chronic pain in veterans prescribed high doses of opioid medications. Fam Pract. 2013.

Naing C, Aung K, Racloz V, Yeoh PN. Safety and efficacy of transdermal buprenorphine for the relief of cancer pain. J Cancer Res Clin Oncol. 2013 Dec;139(12):1963–70. doi: 10.1007/s00432-013-1487-0.

Naliboff BD, Wu SM, Schieffer B, et al. A randomized trial of 2 prescription strategies for opioid treatment of chronic nonmalignant pain. J Pain. 2011;12:288–96.

National Center for Health Statistics (NCHS). Health, United States, 2012: With Special Feature on Emergency Care. Hyattsville, MD. 2013.

Neven DE, Sabel JC, Howell DN, Carlisle RJ. The development of the Washington State emergency department opioid prescribing guidelines. J Med Toxicol. 2012; 8:353–9.

Nicholas MK, Linton SJ, Watson PJ, et al. Early identification and management of psychological risk factors ("yellow flags") in patients with low back pain. Phys Ther. 2011;91:737–53.

Niwa Y, Haji A. M3-receptor activation counteracts opioid-mediated apneusis, but the apneusis per se is not necessarily related to an impaired M3 mechanism in rats. Life Sci. 2011;89:685–90.

Noble M, Treadwell JR, Tregear SJ, et al. Long-term opioid management for chronic noncancer pain (Review). Syst Rev 2010; CD 006605. http://www.update-software.com/BCP/WileyPDF/EN/CD003113.pdf (Accessed 2/21/14)

Nuckols TK, Diamant AL, Popescu I et al. Report to the California Department of Industrial Relations and the California Commission on Health and Safety and Workers' Compensation. Identifying risky opioid prescribing practices. 2012. URL: http://www.dir.ca.gov/chswc/Reports/2012/Identifying%20Risky%20Opioid%20Prescribing%20Practices_2012.pdf, Accessed 6/18/2013.

Nyhlen A, Fridell M, Backstrom M, Hesse M, Krantz P. Substance abuse and psychiatric co-morbidity as predictors of premature mortality in Swedish drug abusers: a prospective longitudinal study 1970–2006. BMC Psychiatry. 2011;11122

Ostelo, R.W., Deyo, R.A., Stratford, P., et al. Interpreting change scores for pain and functional status in low back pain: towards international consensus regarding minimal important change. Spine. 2008;33:90–4.

Outcalt SD, Yu Z, Hoen HM, et al. Health care utilization among veterans with pain and posttraumatic stress symptoms. Pain Med. 2013; Feb 22. doi: 10.1111/pme.12045.

Papaleontiou M, Henderson CR, Turner BJ, et al. Outcomes Associated with Opioid Use in the Treatment of Chronic Non-Cancer Pain Among Older Adults: A Systematic Review and Meta-Analysis. J Am Geriatr Soc. 2010 July; 58(7):1353–1369. doi: 10.1111/j.1532-5415.2010.02920.x (Accessed 2/21/14)

Park J, Lavin R. Risk factors associated with opioid medication misuse in community-dwelling older adults with chronic pain. Clin J Pain. 2010;26(8):647–55.

Passik S, Heit H, Rzetelny A, Pesce A, Mikel C, Kirsh K. Trends in Drug and Illicit Use from Urine Drug Testing from Addiction Treatment Clients. Proceedings of the International Conference on Opioids. Boston, MA. 2013.

Paulozzi LJ, Logan JE, Hall AJ, McKinstry E, Kaplan JA, Crosby AE. A comparison of drug overdose deaths

involving methadone and other opioid analgesics in West Virginia. Addiction. 2009;104(9):1541–8.

Portenoy RK, Bruns D, Shoemaker B, Shoemaker SA. Breakthrough pain in community-dwelling patients with cancer pain and noncancer pain, part 1: Prevalence

and characteristics. J Opioid Manag. 2010a; 6:97–108.

Portenoy RK, Bruns D, Shoemaker B, Shoemaker SA. Breakthrough pain in community-dwelling patients with cancer pain and noncancer pain, part 2: Impact on function, mood, and quality of life. J Opioid Manag. 2010b;6:109–116.

Portenoy R, Bennett DS, Rauck R, Simon S, Taylor D, Brennan M, Shoemaker S. Prevalence and characteristics of breakthrough pain in opioid-treated patients with chronic noncancer pain. J Pain. 2006;7:583–591.

Portenoy RK, Payne D, Jacobsen P. Breakthrough pain: Characteristics and impact in patients with cancer pain. Pain. 1999;81:129–134.

Portenoy RK, Hagen NA. Breakthrough pain: Definition, prevalence and characteristics. Pain. 1990; 41:273–281.

Racoosin JA, Roberson DW, Pacanowski MA, Nielsen DR. New evidence about an old drug--risk with codeine after adenotonsillectomy. N Engl J Med. 2013 Jun 6;368(23):2155–7. doi: 10.1056/NEJMp1302454. Epub 2013 Apr 24.

Rapp SE, Ready LB, Nessly ML. Acute pain management in patients with prior opioid consumption: a case-controlled retrospective review. Pain. 1995;61:195–201.

Seal KH, Shi Y, Cohen G, et al. Association of mental health disorders with prescription opioids and high-risk opioid use in US veterans of Iraq and Afghanistan. JAMA 2012;307(9):940–7.

Shah NG, Lathrop SL, Reichard RR, Landen MG. Unintentional drug overdose death trends in New Mexico, USA,1990–2005: combinations of heroin, cocaine, prescription opioids and alcohol. Addiction. 2008;103(1):126–36.

Southern Oregon Opioid Prescribing Guidelines (OR). Opioid Prescribers Group. May 7,2013. URL: http://www.southernoregonopioidmanagement.org/wp-content/uploads/2013/08/Southern_Oregon_Opioid_Prescribing_Guidelines.pdf

Starrels JL, Becker WC, Alford DP, et al. Systematic review: treatment agreements and urine drug testing to reduce opioid misuse in patients with chronic pain. Ann Intern Med. 2010;152:712–20.

State of Connecticut Workers' Compensation Commission (SCWCC). Medical Protocols: Introduction. April, 2014. URL:

http://wcc.state.ct.us/download/acrobat/protocols.pdf Accessed 04/01/14

State Medical Board of Ohio (SMBO). Guidelines for Prescribing Opioids for the Treatment of Chronic, Non-Terminal Pain 80 mg of a Morphine Equivalent Daily Dose (MED) "Trigger Point." May 9, 2013. URL: http://www.med.ohio.gov/pdf/NEWS/Prescribing%20Opioids%20Guidlines.pdf

Tao XG, Lavin RA, Yuspeh L, Bernacki EJ. Natural history of opioid dosage escalation post-injury: a cohort study of injured workers in the State of Louisiana. J Occup Environ Med. 2012;54:439–44.

Theunissen M, Peters ML, Bruce J, et al. Preoperative anxiety and catastrophizing: A systematic review and meta-analysis of the association with chronic postsurgical pain. Clin J Pain. 2012;28:819–41.

Toblin RL, Paulozzi LJ, Logan JE, Hall AJ, Kaplan JA. Mental illness and psychotropic drug use among prescription drug overdose deaths: a medical examiner chart review. J Clin Psychiatry. 2010;71(4):491–6.

Toms L, Derry S, Moore RA, McQuay HJ. Single dose oral paracetamol (acetaminophen) with codeine for postoperative pain in adults. Cochrane Database of Syst Rev. 2009; 3. doi: 10.1002/14651858.CD001547.pub2

Trescott AM, Boswell MV, Atluri, SL, et al. Opioid guidelines in the management of chronic non-cancer pain. Pain Physician. 2006; 9:1–40.

Turk DC, Swanson KS, Gatchel RJ. Predicting opioid misuse by chronic pain patients: a systematic review and literature synthesis. Clin J Pain 2008;24:497–508.

Turner JA, Franklin G, Fulton-Kehoe D, et al. ISSLS prize winner: early predictors of chronic work disability: a prospective, population-based study of workers with back injuries. Spine. 2008; 33:2809–18.

U.S. Dept of Health and Human Services. Results From the 2005 National Survey on Drug Use and Health: National Findings. 2006. URL:

http://www.oas.samhsa.gov/nsduh/2k5nsduh/2k5Results.pdf

U.S. Department of Transportation. Medical Review Officers. URL: http://www.dot.gov/odapc/mro, Accessed 04/04/2014

U.S. Food and Drug Administration. Code of Federal Regulations (CFR) Title 21, Chapter II, Part 1308, Schedules.

<u>URL:http://www.accessdata.fda.gov/scripts/cdrh/cfdocs/cfcfr/cfrsearch.cfm?cfrpart=130</u>

<u>5</u>

U.S. Food and Drug Administration. Code of Federal Regulations (CFR) Title 21. Controlled Substances Act.

URL:http://www.fda.gov/regulatoryinformation/legislation/ucm148726.htm (Accessed November 14, 2013.)

U.S. Food and Drug Administration. Public Health Advisory: Methadone Use for Pain Control May Result in Death and Life-Threatening Changes in Breathing and Heart Beat. Nov 27, 2006. URL:

http://www.fda.gov/drugs/drugsafety/postmarketdrugsafetyinformationforpatientsandproviders/drugsafetyinformationforheathcareprofessionals/publichealthadvisories/ucm124346.htm

U.S. Veterans Affairs Administration. Clinical Practice Guideline: Management of Opioid Therapy for Chronic Pain. URL: http://www.healthquality.va.gov/COT_312_Full-er.pdf. 2010.

Utah Department of Health. Utah Clinical Guidelines on Prescribing Opioids for Treatment of Pain. 2009.

URL:http://health.utah.gov/prescription/pdf/Utah_guidelines_pdfs.pdf

Veenema K, Leahey N, S. S. Ketorolac versus meperidine: ED treatment of severe musculoskeletal low back pain. Am J Emerg Med. 2000;18(4):404–7. Volinn E, Fargo JD, Fine PG. Opioid therapy for nonspecific low back pain and the outcome of chronic work loss. Pain. 2009;142(3):194–201.

Von Korff M. Chronic Pain Assessment in Epidemiologic and Health Services
Research: Empirical Bases and New Directions. Handbook of Pain Assessment: Third
Edition. Dennis C. Turk and Ronald Melzack, Editors. Guilford Press, New York. 2011.

Von Korff M, Ormel J, Keefe FJ et al. Grading the severity of chronic pain. Pain. 1992; 50:133-149.

Warner M, Chen LH, Makuc DM, Anderson RN, and Miniño AM. Drug Poisoning Deaths in the United States, 1980–2008, in U.S. Department of Health and Human Services, Centers for Disease Control and Prevention, National Center for Health

Statistics, NCHS Data Brief. Hyattsville, MD. December 2011;81. http://www.cdc.gov/nchs/data/databriefs/db81.pdf).

Warner M, Chen LH, Makuc DM. Increase in fatal poisonings involving opioid analgesics in the United States, 1999–2006. NCHS Data Brief. 2009:1–8. URL: http://www.cdc.gov/nchs/data/databriefs/db22.pdf

Washington State Department of Labor & Industries. Guideline for Prescribing Opioids to Treat Pain in Injured Workers. 2013.

 $\underline{\mathsf{URL}}: \underline{\mathsf{http://lni.wa.gov/ClaimsIns/Files/OMD/MedTreat/FINALOpioidGuideline010713.pd}$

Washington State Department of Labor & Industries, Washington Agency Medical Directors' Group. Interagency Guideline on Opioid Dosing for Chronic Non-cancer Pain: An educational aid to improve care and safety with opioid therapy. 2010 Update. 2010. URL:http://www.agencymeddirectors.wa.gov/Files/OpioidGdline.pdf

Wassan AD, Butler SF, Budman SH, et al. Psychiatric history and psychologic adjustment as risk factors for aberrant drug-related behavior among patients with chronic pain. Clin J Pain 2007; 23: 307–15.

Webster L, Cochella S, Dasgupta N, et al. An analysis of the root causes for opioid-related overdose deaths in the United States. Pain Med. 2011;12(Suppl 2):S26–35.

Webster BS, Verma SK, Gatchel RJ. Relationship between early opioid prescribing for acute occupational low back pain and disability duration, medical costs, subsequent surgery and late opioid use. Spine. 2007;32:2127–32.

White AP, Arnold PM, Norvell DC, et al. Pharmacologic management of chronic low back pain: synthesis of the evidence. Spine. 2011; 36(Supp): S131–43.

White House Office of National Drug Control Policy. Epidemic: Responding to America's Prescription Drug Abuse Crisis. 2011. URL:

http://www.whitehouse.gov/sites/default/files/ondcp/issues-content/prescription-drugs/rx_abuse_plan.pdf Accessed 6/17/2013.

Wickizer TM, Franklin G, Fulton-Kehoe D, et al. Improving quality, preventing disability and reducing costs in workers' compensation healthcare. A population-based intervention study. Med Care. 2011;49:1105–1111.

Work Loss Data Institute. ODG Evidence-Based Medical Treatment and Return-to-Work Guidelines (Official Disability Guidelines). 2013 (18th annual edition). Chronic Pain Chapter (updated 2/18/13). Accessed 3/8/13 at http://www.odg-twc.com/.

Wunsch M, Nakamoto K, Behonick G, Massello W. Opioid deaths in rural Virginia: a description of the high prevalence of accidental fatalities involving prescribed medications. Am J Addict. 2009;18(1).

Wysowski DK, Governale LA, Swann J. Trends in outpatient prescription drug use and related costs in the US: 1998–2003. Pharmacoeconomics. 2006;24(3):233–6.

Yee MM, Josephson C, Hill CE, et al. Cytochrome P450 2D6 polymorphisms and predicted opioid metabolism in African American children with sickle cell disease. J Pediatr Hematol Oncol. 2013 Oct;35(7):e301–5. doi: 10.1097/MPH.0b013e31828e52d2.

_